

Consolidated List of Learning Outcomes

This is a consolidated list of all the learning outcomes included at the beginning of each Session.

The Diploma is designed to provide sufficient context to enable individuals to start exploring the world of tax technology. It is aimed both at existing tax professionals wishing to begin building their technology skills, and to technologists wishing to gain more knowledge of taxation matters relating to technology. It will also be an excellent first step for a new entrant to the tax technology world wishing to progress their career and to those wanting to return to tax after a career break.

The modules are designed to provide a secure grounding in and a working knowledge of tax and technology; they cannot by definition be all embracing and are intended as the foundation on which future learning can be built.

Table of Contents

invodule 1: Understanding Tax Technology and its Impact: An Overview	ວ
Session 1.1: Introducing the Diploma Programme	5
Session 1.2: The Impact of Tax Technology	5
Session 1.3: An Overview of the Diploma Content	5
Module 2: Types of Tax Technology	6
Session 2.1: Optical Character Recognition	6
Session 2.2: Robotic Process Automation	6
Session 2.3: Data Analytics	6
Session 2.4: Data Visualisation	6
Session 2.5: Programming	7
Session 2.6: Application Programming Interfaces	7
Session 2.7: XML, XBRL and iXBRL	7
Session 2.8: Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning	7
Session 2.9: Bespoke and Out-of-the-Box Software and Systems	8
Session 2.10: Integrating with ERP Systems	8
Module 3: Data Ethics, Governance & Data Security	9
Session 3.1: GDPR Compliance Requirements	9
Session 3.2: Managing the Risks and Limitations of Technology and Technological Change	9
Session 3.3: Data Security	9
Session 3.4: Managing Cyber Risk	9
Session 3.5: Data Ethics and Model Bias	10
Session 3.6: Tax Technology Governance	10
Module 4: Emerging Technologies	11
Session 4.1: Enterprise Applications	11
Session 4.2: Distributed Systems	11
Session 4.3: Cryptoassets	11
Session 4.4: Regulations and Taxation	11
Module 5: Introduction to Project and Product Management in Tax Technology	ogy 12
Sessions 5.1 to 5.3: Introduction to Project and Product Management	

	Sessions 5.4 to 5.6: Introduction to Change Management, Risk Management and Decision making in business	12
	Sessions 5.7 to 5.8: Process Management and Common Tax Processes	12
M	lodule 6: Managing and Handling Tax Data	13
	Session 6.1: Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Systems	13
	Session 6.2: Understanding Big Data in Tax	13
	Session 6.3: Data Science and Analytics for Tax	13
	Session 6.4: Machine Learning and Deep Learning for Tax	13
M	lodule 7: Essential Elements of Technology Management for Tax Professionals	14
	Session 7.1 Business Processes and Data Collection	14
	Session 7.2 Tax Processes and Data Collection	14
	Session 7.3 to 7.4 Introduction to Optimisation and Automation Tools	14
	Session 7.5 to 7.7 Introduction to Agile Project and Product Management, Use Research and Stakeholder Management	
M	lodule 8: Essential Technology Tools for Data Handling	16
	Session 8.1 Data Modelling in Tax	16
	Session 8.2 Introduction to Data Processing Frameworks	16
	Session 8.3 Introduction to Cloud Computing	16
	Session 8.4 Programming for Tax	17
	Session 8.5 Robotic Process Automation	17
	Session 8.6 Business Analytics	17
	Session 8.7 Data Visualisation and Business Intelligence	18
M	lodule 9: Understanding the Shift to Digital Tax Administration	19
	Session 9.1: Drivers and barriers	19
	Session 9.2: Optional versus mandatory	19
	Session 9.3: Digitalisation of forms	19
	Session 9.4: Use of data by tax authorities to obtain insight, assess risk and target interventions	19
	Session 9.5: The move to real time information	19
	Session 9.6: Pre-population	20
	Session 9.7: OECD paper Tax administration 3.0	20
	Session 9.8: UK initiatives to date	20
N/	lodule 10: HMRC's ten-vear Strategy	21

	Session 10.1: Making Tax Digital in the UK	. 21
	Session 10.2: Making Tax Digital deadlines and penalties	. 21
	Session 10.3: Issues for taxpayers/clients	. 21
	Session 10.4: Sources of information and help	. 21
	Session 10.5: How to evaluate & select software	. 22
	Session 10.6: Allocating responsibilities	. 22
V	lodule 11: Opportunities for Delivering a more Holistic, Proactive Service	23
	Session 11.1: International trends for greater personalisation and use of real time data by tax authorities	. 23
	Session 11.2: Making best use of technology as a tax professional in practice	23
	Session 11.3: Making best use of technology in a business	23

© CIOT 2025 4

Module 1: Understanding Tax Technology and its Impact: An Overview

Session 1.1: Introducing the Diploma Programme

At the end of this session, you will understand how the Diploma is structured, what learning materials are available to you and how to access them, and how to access the question banks and assessments.

Session 1.2: The Impact of Tax Technology

At the end of this session, you will have an understanding of the increasing importance of technology in tax.

Session 1.3: An Overview of the Diploma Content

At the end of this session, you will have an understanding of the key topics covered in the Diploma and why they are important.

© CIOT 2025 5

Module 2: Types of Tax Technology

Session 2.1: Optical Character Recognition

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what optical character recognition is
- how it works
- key features that may be required
- when OCR is used

Session 2.2: Robotic Process Automation

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what robotic process automation (RPA) is
- how RPA works and when it is used
- criteria for the successful implementation of RPA
- how RPA can be used in the tax context

Session 2.3: Data Analytics

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what data analytics is
- the main types of data analytics
- how data analytics is used
- the benefits of using data analytics
- the use of data analytics in a tax context
- the limitations of data analytics

Session 2.4: Data Visualisation

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what data visualisation is
- the main types of data visualisation tools
- what makes for good data visualisation
- how data visualisation is used in a tax context
- the limitations of data visualisation

Session 2.5: Programming

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what programming is
- the key characteristics of effective programming
- the main categories of programming language
- the most popular programming tools
- how programming is used in a tax context
- the limitations of computer programming

Session 2.6: Application Programming Interfaces

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what application programming interfaces (APIs) are
- how APIs work
- the benefits of using APIs
- how APIs are used in tax
- the limitations of using APIs

Session 2.7: XML, XBRL and iXBRL

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what XML, XBRL and iXBRL are
- how they work
- how HMRC uses these technologies
- their benefits and limitations

Session 2.8: Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what artificial intelligence and machine learning are
- how they work
- what the benefits are
- how they can be used in the tax environment
- limitations in their use

Session 2.9: Bespoke and Out-of-the-Box Software and Systems

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- the differences between bespoke and out-of-the-box software
- the benefits and disadvantages of each
- how to choose which to use
- the implications of the choice of software in the tax environment

Session 2.10: Integrating with ERP Systems

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what enterprise resource planning (ERP) is
- how ERP works
- the benefits and disadvantages of ERP
- the impact of ERP in the tax environment

Module 3: Data Ethics, Governance & Data Security

Session 3.1: GDPR Compliance Requirements

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what GDPR is
- GDPR terminology
- protecting the privacy rights of data subjects through technology
- the GDPR data protection principles and technology
- documenting processing activities
- GDPR accountability and governance

Session 3.2: Managing the Risks and Limitations of Technology and Technological Change

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what the general risks of technological change are
- what the specific risks and limitations of the different tax technologies are

Session 3.3: Data Security

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what data security is
- what a direct access attack is
- the different types of cyber attacks

Session 3.4: Managing Cyber Risk

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- the role of cyber security governance
- how to identify potential cyber risks
- the methods of preventing cyber attacks
- how staff should be trained for security threats
- the purpose and content of a business continuity plan

Session 3.5: Data Ethics and Model Bias

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- the principles of data ethics
- the ethical implications for new technology
- how data ethics affects tax professionals
- how model bias is created and handled

Session 3.6: Tax Technology Governance

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- the concept of technology governance
- what the objectives of technology governance are
- what the elements of a technology governance framework are
- what frameworks are available to assist in successful technology governance

Module 4: Emerging Technologies

Session 4.1: Enterprise Applications

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- identify the key features of blockchain and different cryptoassets
- evaluate the appropriateness of blockchain and cryptoassets to solve a problem or exploit a new opportunity
- consider how your clients are using this technology and be ready to ask the right questions to manage their tax affairs

Session 4.2: Distributed Systems

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- use the terminology of distributed systems and blockchain with clients
- understand the reasoning behind the choice of a specific blockchain for an application
- identify potential tax liabilities and business benefits and risks associated with blockchain

Session 4.3: Cryptoassets

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- differentiate between classes of cryptoassets
- identify different ways in which cryptoassets can be acquired
- recognise decentralised finance activity and evaluate risks
- discuss the safe and secure custody of cryptoassets with clients

Session 4.4: Regulations and Taxation

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- choose appropriate tax treatments from the HMRC cryptoassets manual
- recognise the regulatory stance of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and its impact on enterprises and individuals
- identify regulatory differences between jurisdictions

Module 5: Introduction to Project and Product Management in Tax Technology

Sessions 5.1 to 5.3: Introduction to Project and Product Management

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- run a project using the structure of a project management lifecycle
- recognise the common structure of a product roadmap
- identify the differences between project and product management
- understand the role of a project manager versus a product manager

Sessions 5.4 to 5.6: Introduction to Change Management, Risk Management and Decision making in business

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- understand the multidisciplinary nature of change management
- identify common challenges to change management
- apply change management frameworks to real world problems
- understand risk management and decision-making in business

Sessions 5.7 to 5.8: Process Management and Common Tax Processes

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- understand what a process is
- recognise the different ways to document a process
- identify the differences between a static and an active process document
- recognise the factors to consider when designing tax processes

Module 6: Managing and Handling Tax Data

Session 6.1: Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Systems

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- know the benefits and drawbacks of different kinds of ERP systems
- use an ERP system to automate tax calculation and reporting tasks
- compare how organisations can succeed and fail when implementing ERP systems.

Session 6.2: Understanding Big Data in Tax

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- understand what an API is and how APIs find, collect, move, store, clean, and transform Big Data
- describe industry standard tools and solutions which clean and transform Big Data
- compare the benefits and drawbacks of ETL (Extract, Transform, Load) vs ELT (Extract, Load, Transform) pipelines
- understand the agile approach to data engineering

Session 6.3: Data Science and Analytics for Tax

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- understand data science techniques for tax compliance
- understand how tax professionals can best utilise data analytics and insights
- understand the groundwork of the Generative AI revolution and its potential impact on tax accounting

Session 6.4: Machine Learning and Deep Learning for Tax

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- evaluate the effectiveness of a machine learning tool created by an external supplier
- become 'Deep Learning Ready' by appraising how advances in deep learning foundation models could be applied to tax compliance
- become familiar with the concepts of Generative AI and the GPU revolution, and their impact on modern tax accounting

Module 7: Essential Elements of Technology Management for Tax Professionals

Session 7.1 Business Processes and Data Collection

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- understand how business processes work to facilitate the collection of accurate data
- gain an awareness on how business and tax processes such as VAT, PAYE,
 Corporation Tax and Income Tax submissions and reporting overlap to facilitate the design of more integrated processes

Session 7.2 Tax Processes and Data Collection

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- have a better knowledge of tax processes and data collection
- gain a better understanding of process flows for VAT returns, Corporate Tax, and PAYE returns

Session 7.3 to 7.4 Introduction to Optimisation and Automation Tools

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- understand the common themes in process optimisation frameworks.
- apply process optimisation frameworks to real world problems.
- understand more about available tools such as off the shelf and custom applications, RPAs and low or no code tools to automate processes.
- have a basic grasp of programming principles to apply to low code tools.

Session 7.5 to 7.7 Introduction to Agile Project and Product Management, User Research and Stakeholder Management

At the end of this session, you will be able to:

- gain an understanding of what agile software development is and why it came about.
- be comfortable applying waterfall, agile or a hybrid approach to project and product management and making it work in practice through agile frameworks.
- understand what user stories are and why they matter.
- learn how stakeholder management works in practice through the experiences of others.

Module 8: Essential Technology Tools for Data Handling

Session 8.1 Data Modelling in Tax

At the end of this session, you will:

- understand what data modelling is and the possible applications of data modelling to tax problems.
- understand the different forms of data relevant for tax professionals including internal, external, proprietary versus open.
- have seen a worked example of data modelling applied to a VAT analytics problem.
- have reviewed common tools used for data analysis, visualisation and modelling including commercial tools & open-source tools.

Session 8.2 Introduction to Data Processing Frameworks

At the end of this session, you will:

- understand different tools commonly used for processing data.
- be able to explain the difference between ETL vs ELT workflows and how they fit into the wider "modern data stack" approach.
- be able to review and compare popular data processing tools in order to understand which tools may be relevant for a given context.
- understand the fundamentals of writing SQL queries.
- have seen a worked example of tax data transformations written using SQL.

Session 8.3 Introduction to Cloud Computing

At the end of this session, you will have:

- learnt the fundamentals of cloud computing, benefits and drawbacks, and how it can be used to support business operations.
- compared cloud computing platforms, the various services offered and the key considerations for selecting a cloud provider.
- demystified the jargon of cloud computing platforms and workflow.
- seen in practice how a tax data pipeline can be deployed to run in a cloud environment.

Session 8.4 Programming for Tax

At the end of this session, you will have:

- learnt why Python has become the #1 most used programming language in the world.
- seen how tax professionals are using Python for data analysis and financial modelling.
- learnt how Python can replace some Excel tasks with automated analytics workflows.
- reviewed popular Python packages for working with data.
- seen a worked example of using Python and machine learning to spot transactions with incorrectly coded VAT rates.
- reviewed other programming languages that may be relevant for tax professionals.

Session 8.5 Robotic Process Automation

At the end of this session, you will have:

- understood what is meant by "robotics" and "Robotic Process Automation" (RPA) and what problems it can solve.
- learnt the opportunities, benefits and drawbacks of using automation technology for tax work.
- compared different tools commonly used for RPA.
- learnt how to assess whether a given task is suitable for automation.

Session 8.6 Business Analytics

At the end of this session, you will have:

- understood how business analytics and business intelligence software is being used within tax workflows.
- reviewed frameworks for data-driven decision making.
- compared popular tools used for business intelligence, analytics and dashboards.
- seen a worked example of how analysing tax datasets can yield impactful insights.

Session 8.7 Data Visualisation and Business Intelligence

At the end of this session, you will have:

- learnt how data visualisation has matured from a novel innovation 100 years ago to a business critical tool today.
- understood best practices as well as examples of poor practices in visualising and presenting business information.
- learned what features are provided by major business intelligence tools such as Microsoft PowerBI, Looker and Tableau.
- seen how business intelligence tools can fit into a wider data analysis and modelling workflow with a worked example that combines all the components of this module.

Module 9: Understanding the Shift to Digital Tax Administration

Session 9.1: Drivers and barriers

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- why tax authorities want businesses and agents to go digital
- why taxpayers and tax advisers embrace digitalisation
- what the barriers to going digital are

Session 9.2: Optional versus mandatory

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- the meaning of optional and mandatory digital tax administration systems
- the benefits and disadvantages of the two systems
- what is meant by e-invoicing, e-filing and real time information collection

Session 9.3: Digitalisation of forms

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- the difference between digitisation and digitalisation
- why tax forms are digitalised
- benefits of digitalised forms

Session 9.4: Use of data by tax authorities to obtain insight, assess risk and target interventions

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- how tax authorities use data to obtain insights
- how tax authorities use data to assess risk
- how tax authorities use data to target interventions

Session 9.5: The move to real time information

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what we mean by 'real time' information
- how tax authorities use real time reporting
- what the benefits of real time reporting are
- what the barriers to implementing real time reporting are

Session 9.6: Pre-population

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what pre-population is and how tax authorities use it
- how pre-population use by tax authorities is growing
- how pre-population is used in personal tax accounts
- what the benefits of pre-population are
- what the challenges of pre-population are

Session 9.7: OECD paper Tax administration 3.0

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- where tax authorities currently are on their digital transformation journey
- why there is an urgency for tax authorities to digitally transform
- how digital transformation could look for future tax authorities
- what the six building blocks of digital transformation are

Session 9.8: UK initiatives to date

At the end of this session, you will understand:

what the digital initiatives introduced in the UK to date are

Module 10: HMRC's ten-year Strategy

Session 10.1: Making Tax Digital in the UK

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- how Making Tax Digital helps HMRC achieve its digital goals
- the rules and timelines that apply for Making Tax Digital for VAT, income tax and corporation tax

Session 10.2: Making Tax Digital deadlines and penalties

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what the different Making Tax Digital deadlines are
- what penalties may be applied when the Making Tax Digital rules are not followed

Session 10.3: Issues for taxpayers/clients

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- why businesses may wish to adopt Making Tax Digital (MTD) early
- what digital records are
- what application programming interfaces are and where they fit in with MTD
- what the characteristics of MTD-compliant software are
- what MTD mobile apps can add
- what bridging software is
- whether a business should aim for minimum compliance or maximise its potential

Session 10.4: Sources of information and help

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what sources of information and help for Making Tax Digital are provided by HMRC
- what information is provided by professional tax and accountancy bodies
- what information is provided by tax and accountancy professionals
- what information is provided by software providers

Session 10.5: How to evaluate & select software

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- what considerations there are when choosing MTD software
- what the risks associated with new software are
- how many MTD products a tax agent should support
- how to identify clients that are within the scope of MTD
- how to provide support to MTD clients
- what types of training are available for MTD software

Session 10.6: Allocating responsibilities

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- how the Making Tax Digital regimes will affect firms' ability to provide compliance services
- what advice and support will be needed and from whom

Module 11: Opportunities for Delivering a more Holistic, Proactive Service

Session 11.1: International trends for greater personalisation and use of real time data by tax authorities

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- how pre-population can be used by tax authorities
- how e-invoicing and smart registers can be used
- how real time information affects cross-border transactions
- how distributed ledger technology can be used
- how real time information can be built into taxpayers' natural systems

Session 11.2: Making best use of technology as a tax professional in practice

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- how tax professionals use tax technology, such as artificial intelligence, in practice
- what the concerns about using technology in practice are
- how technology affects the interaction of tax and accounting functions
- uses of tax software in a tax practice
- what clients expect from firms using tax technology

Session 11.3: Making best use of technology in a business

At the end of this session, you will understand:

- the importance of tax sensitisation and how technologies such as open banking can help to facilitate this
- how finance and tax functions increasingly work together
- what the challenges of selecting software are
- which skills are required in a modern tax environment
- how tax technology is affecting multinational enterprises
- what the issues of relying on tax technology for compliance are